**RECEIVED**

**Jan 30 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bentley Price  
Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000592

---

Pamela Holliday Wallin; Mark Bennett Holliday; Kingsley K. Holliday;  
Sara Jane Holliday; and John C. Holliday.....Appellants,

v.

Ross Samuel Holliday as Personal Representative of the Estate of Warren; Phillip Holliday;  
Ross Samuel Holliday, individually; Warren Lea Holliday, individually; 2233 Highway 17  
North, LLC; 2237 Highway 17 North, LLC; 2805 Highway 17 North, LLC; 1606 Meeting

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Did the circuit court err in finding there were no genuine issues of material fact as to whether the Trust was revoked when the evidence creates questions of fact regarding whether Warren Holliday revoked his Trust prior to the 2016 deathbed Revocation, whether Warren lacked testamentary capacity to sign the deathbed Revocation, and whether the deathbed Revocation was the product of undue influence?**
- II. Did the circuit court err in concluding Appellants' claims are time barred where this conclusion is contrary to the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-604 and where neither the order nor the record supports the application of laches?**
- III. Did the circuit court err in finding South Carolina does not recognize a claim for intentional interference with inheritance and that it lacked jurisdiction over this claim?**
- IV. Did the circuit court err in granting summary judgment as to Appellants' remaining claims because this finding was premised on its mistaken finding that the Trust was revoked and, further, by finding Appellants failed to introduce evidence to support their remaining claims even though the circuit court only permitted discovery on the issues of capacity and undue influence?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Warren P. Holliday (“Warren”) and his former wife, Patricia, had four children: Pamela, Mark, Ross, and Lea. The couple amassed significant wealth, with much of it in the form of real estate holdings. (**R. Vol. II, pp. 480-481; Vol. IV, p. 1714**). In 2002, attorney F. Truett Nettles, II (“Nettles”), helped Warren and Patricia draft a simple will dividing Warren’s estate equally among his children. (**R. Vol. IV, pp. 1642-1643**). However, by 2008 Warren’s health was declining, and Nettles referred Warren to Attorney Heyward Carter for a more sophisticated estate plan. (**R. Vol. IV, pp. 1636-1637**). With Mr. Carter’s help, Warren established a two-pronged estate plan. First, by creating The Warren P. Holliday Revocable Trust (the “Trust”), Warren was able to ensure certain assets would pass outside of probate (*i.e.*, the Trust created a “non-probate” estate). Second, Warren and Patricia executed a new will to address the distribution of their probate estate (*i.e.*, the property and assets not held by the Trust). (**R. Vol. IV, pp. 1515-1517, 1534-1545, 1546 (Vol. I, pp. 286-316)**).

Honoring the first prong of this estate plan, Warren transferred certain real estate and business holdings to the Trust. **(R. Vol. III, pp. 1163-1168)**. Warren’s revocable Trust would become irrevocable at his death, allowing the corpus to be distributed outside of probate and taking advantage of certain beneficial tax treatments. As a generation skipping trust, the Trust also allowed for Warren to provide for generations, which was important to him. **(R. Vol. III, pp. 1003, 1016-1017, 1215, 1245 (Vol. I, pp. 286-326))**. Important to this action, Warren’s four children were equal beneficiaries of the Trust. **(R. Vol. III, p. 1245 (Vol. I, pp. 286-326))**. As of 2015, the year before Warren died, the Trust’s holdings were estimated to be worth \$20,000,000.00 by Warren’s counsel. **(R. Vol. II, pp. 480-481; Vol. IV, p. 1714)**. This Trust and its *non-probate assets* lie at the heart of this appeal.

For the second prong of Warren’s estate plan, Mr. Carter crafted a new will for Warren and Patricia for the distribution of the assets owned by them individually—*i.e.*, the property and assets not transferred to the Trust. **(R. Vol. IV, pp. 1516-1517, 1534-1545)**. This will devised the probate estate evenly among their children. This appeal does *not* concern Warren’s *probate estate*.

After creating this two-pronged estate plan, Warren’s health continued to decline. In 2009, Warren suffered from end-stage kidney disease, and in early 2010 he underwent a failed kidney transplant. **(R. Vol. II, pp. 482-485, 506-509)**. Warren had comprehension difficulties as well as problems balancing, which caused frequent falls. **(R. Vol. II, pp. 506-509)**. In August 2010, Warren self-reported difficulty concentrating and comprehending what he read. **(R. Vol. II, p. 486 (Vol. III, p. 987))**. An MRI revealed he had “chronic ischemic disease of the brain[,]”—a physical finding of dementia. **(R. Vol. II, pp. 506-509, 510-515)**. Later that year, Warren spent four months hospitalized in Utah after visiting his children and grandchildren. Upon his release to travel home to South Carolina, Warren thought he was going to a NASCAR race. **(R. Vol. II, pp. 498-505, ¶**

3). Once home, Warren’s medical records show his dementia and confusion continued to progress, including one event where he was observed to be “demented and wandering around, with feces on him.” (R. Vol. III, pp. 991 (Vol. II, p. 519), 1023 (Vol. II, p. 533)).

Warren’s son, Ross knew of Warren’s deteriorating mental faculties. In 2013, Ross testified that “as part of his older age and being in poor, poor health” Warren’s business had been slipping. (R. Vol. III, p. 1019 (Vol. II, pp. 520-521)). Bolstering this statement, witness Derek Arsenault testified that Ross told him that Warren “didn’t have a sound mind” and “didn’t have the mental capacity” to accept lease terms that were negotiated with Warren in 2010 involving one of the Trust properties. (R. Vol. III, pp. 1173-1178). Ross had power of attorney over both Warren and the businesses forming the corpus of the Trust, and as Warren declined Ross began exercising more and more control, pushing his father out in the process. (R. Vol. III, pp. 1051-1052, 1006-1007). Ross’s aunt, Martha Brouthers,<sup>1</sup> kept the books for the Trust’s various businesses, and she testified that Ross began, “trying to take more and more control over who had what.” (R. Vol. III, p. 1009). According to Martha, Ross needed to be “reign[ed] in” because he was taking money from the businesses. (R. Vol. III, pp. 1001-1002). Ultimately, Martha stopped keeping the books in June of 2015, by which time Ross had personally withdrawn more than \$4,000,000.00 from the businesses.<sup>2</sup> (R. Vol. III, pp. 998-999).

---

<sup>1</sup> Martha is Patricia’s sister and Warren’s sister-in-law. She maintained a close relationship with Warren while working in the family business. (R. Vol. IV, pp. 1436-1438).

<sup>2</sup> Martha said Ross’ withdrawals made managing the finances difficult. (R. Vol. IV, pp. 1449-1450). Ross justified them as compensation for his efforts managing the properties owned by the Trust. (R. Vol. II, pp. 498-505; Vol. V, pp. 1782-1786). The form of the compensation varied, but “payments” took the form of unreimbursed loans, cash for Ross and his wife, and car payments. (R. Vol. II, pp. 498-505; Vol. V, pp. 1794-2124). During this time (amidst the real estate crash), Ross also built an 8,000 square foot house in Utah and began acquiring several vehicles. (R. Vol. V, pp. 1787-1793).

With Ross exercising control over the businesses, Warren was kept in the dark.<sup>3</sup> (**R. Vol. V, p. 2133; Vol. III, pp. 1006-1007, 1081, 1082 (Vol. II, pp. 522-523)**). Martha explained that Ross abused this power and began to treat his father differently, because, “he did not want [Warren] to know what was going on.” (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1006-1007, 1018**).

Despite the millions that Martha testified Ross received from the businesses, testimony shows Ross also resented that he managed the Trust’s business assets considering the Trust provided that his siblings would ultimately share equally in the Trust upon Warren’s death.<sup>4</sup> (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1012-1015, 1055-1056**). Martha testified that Ross wanted Warren to change his estate plan because the Trust was shared equally with his siblings. She recalled an incident when, “Ross banged his hand on the conference table . . . [and] was adamant that he was the power-of-attorney and he was not going to come down [to Charleston] and run this business and make his siblings rich.” (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1012-1013**). Martha reported that Ross said “he wasn’t going to share anything with his siblings.” (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1004-1005**).

Sadly, Warren’s failing physical and mental health were not his only difficulties. In 2013, Warren and Patricia divorced.<sup>5</sup> Nettles represented Warren in the divorce but admitted that 95% of his communications were with Ross—not Warren. (**R. Vol. I, p. 364; Vol. IV, pp. 1645-1646**). Nettles “assumed” Ross shared their discussions with Warren, but Ross admitted he did not always

---

<sup>3</sup> In 2015, Nettles informed a family court judge that Warren did not personally run the family business or make business decisions, “And given his age and condition he probably doesn’t know the answers to any questions so we’re in a hard spot here.” (**R. Vol. III, p. 1082 (Vol. II, pp. 522-523)**). According to longtime employee Paul Herman, Ross had taken control over the businesses by around 2014. (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1084-1085**).

<sup>4</sup> Warren never treated his children differently, and this approach never changed for as long as Martha knew him. (**R. Vol. IV, p. 1439**). Warren told her he wanted his kids to share and share alike. (**R. Vol. V, p. 1512**).

<sup>5</sup> Martha testified that Ross influenced his parents’ divorce. (**R. Vol. IV, pp. 1483, 1491-1492**).

inform Warren of his discussions with Nettles. (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1089, lines 17-19; 1054, lines 9-14**). Thus, Ross controlled the flow of information between Warren and Nettles—a practice that continued in later years and plays an important part in this case.

After the divorce, Warren executed a new will (the “2014 Will”), which Nettles prepared. The 2014 Will removed Patricia<sup>6</sup> and adjusted the distribution of his probate estate to leave a larger percentage to Ross and Lea. (**R. Vol. II, p. 583 (Vol. I, pp. 104-106)**). Importantly, no changes whatsoever were made to the Trust, and Warren continued to utilize the Trust after signing the 2014 Will, including listing the Trust as a payable on death beneficiary of his accounts. (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1157-1162; Vol. V, pp. 2147-2150**).

In January of 2016, Warren executed a codicil (the “2016 Codicil”) to his 2014 Will, also prepared by Nettles. This Codicil provided for bequests of specific dollar amounts to Mark and Pamela from his probate estate, rather than basing those bequests on a percentage as before.<sup>7</sup> (**R. Vol. II, p. 584 (Vol. I, pp. 107-110)**). However, as before, the 2016 Codicil did not affect Warren’s *non-probate estate*, as it made no changes to the Trust or the assets it held. Once again, Warren continued to utilize the Trust accounts after the 2016 Codicil was executed. (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1157-1158**).

---

<sup>6</sup> The Will was amended, but it was unnecessary to amend the Trust to remove Patricia. The divorce treated her as predeceasing Warren as a matter of law. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-607; (**R. Vol. IV, pp. 1363**).

<sup>7</sup> Ross was involved in Nettles’ preparation of the 2016 Codicil, altering Mark and Pamela’s bequests. Nettles’ correspondence identifies *Ross* as the “client” not Warren. (**R. Vol. V, pp. 2129-2131**). The 2016 Codicil was sent to Warren only after it was first sent to Ross for review. When Nettles sent a draft of the 2016 Codicil *to Ross*, Nettles asked *Ross* if it was what Warren wants. (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1129 (Vol. II, p. 547), 1109 (Vol. II, p. 659), 1111-1128 (¶ 7.c), 1246 (Vol. II, p. 578); Vol. IV, p. 1751**).

By the summer of 2016, Warren was in grave condition. Medical records from August 2016 report a multitude of serious health conditions in addition to his dementia. **(R. Vol. III, pp. 1021-1028 (Vol. II, pp. 526-538))**. Warren underwent heart surgery in August to address his chronic heart failure, spending a week in the hospital. Shortly thereafter he was hospitalized again with kidney problems and noted to be in an “[a]ltered mental status and lethargic.” **(R. Vol. III, p. 1023 (Vol. II, p. 533))**.

By this point, Warren’s death was imminent. **(R. Vol. IV, p. 1339)**. Knowing this, Ross (*not Warren*) directed Nettles to contact Heyward Carter, instructing that, “You need to make sure that you guys – that everything here [with Warren’s estate] is in harmony.” **(R. Vol. III, pp. 1060-1061)**. Ross wrongfully “assumed” the Trust had already been “taken care of.”<sup>8</sup> **(R. Vol. III, p. 1061)**. Thus, to Ross, putting Warren’s estate “in harmony” meant that Nettles should make sure *all* assets passed according to Warren’s 2016 Codicil, *including the non-probate assets in Warren’s Trust*.<sup>9</sup> **(R. Vol. III, pp. 1061-1065)**. When asked why Warren was not involved in these discussions, Ross explained, “[M]y dad at this time was actually very sick. I mean, he died less than 30 days later.” **(R. Vol. III, p. 1064)**.

Mr. Carter testified that Nettles called him in August of 2016 to request a copy of Warren’s Trust. **(R. Vol. I, p. 408)**. According to Nettles, he first learned of the Trust from Mr. Carter, who told him it was in place. Whatever is the case, Nettles hatched a plan to revoke the Trust and recommended this plan *to Ross*, but Nettles *did not* inform Warren of the plan. **(R. Vol. IV, pp.**

---

<sup>8</sup> Of course, what *Ross thought or assumed* about his father’s Trust is irrelevant to Warren’s true intent. His assumption is relevant only to show *why Ross* prompted Nettles to ensure the Trust was revoked before Warren died.

<sup>9</sup> Ross knew this would eliminate Appellants’ interest in the Trust entirely, and substantially increase the amount Ross and Lea would receive upon Warren’s death. **(R. Vol. III, p. 1071)**.

1378-1379, 1412). Ross, who stood to gain millions if the Trust was revoked, “agreed” with the revocation plan. (R. Vol. III, pp. 1064-1065). When Nettles was asked under oath whether it was his idea, or Warren’s idea, to revoke the Trust, Nettles admitted, “It was my idea.” (R. Vol. III, p. 1095; Vol. IV, p. 1378) (emphasis added).

Billing records show Nettles began drafting the Revocation on September 6, 2016, while Warren was hospitalized and quite confused. (R. Vol III, pp. 1101-1102, 1025-1027 (Vol. II, pp. 535-537)). Nettles confirmed that he, “discussed the trust revocation with Heyward Carter as you [Ross] requested.” (R. Vol. III, p. 1092; Vol. IV, p. 1753) (emphasis added). When Nettles asked for Mr. Carter’s input on a draft revocation, Mr. Carter refused to comment believing it to be inappropriate. (R. Vol. III, pp. 1105-1107).

In support of Respondents’ motion(s) for summary judgment, Nettles gave an affidavit representing, “I drafted the Revocation of the 2008 Revocable Trust upon instruction from my client, Warren P. Holliday.” (R. Vol. III, p. 1150 (Vol. I, pp. 120-124, ¶ 5)). However, this sworn statement later proved false when Nettles admitted during his deposition that he *never* spoke to Warren about revoking the Trust. Instead, he communicated *only with Ross*—a fact confirmed throughout the record. (R. Vol. III, pp. 1090-1097; Vol. IV, pp. 1777-1778; Vol. V, pp. 2156-2163, Vol. III, pp. 1111-1128 (¶¶ 7.d, 7.e)).<sup>10</sup>

While preparing the draft Revocation, Nettles did nothing to determine what assets or properties were owned by the Trust so that he could advise Warren of the effect of signing the

---

<sup>10</sup> Attorney Allen Jeffcoat, III, gave an affidavit in a separate malpractice action against Nettles arising, in part, from Nettles’ admission that he was unaware of Warren’s Trust when he drafted the 2014 Will and 2016 Codicil, with Ross’s participation and direction. Mr. Jeffcoat highlighted that the Trust Revocation was Nettles’ idea, not Warren’s. He also noted all of Nettles’ communications regarding the revocation were with Ross, not Warren, prior to asking Warren to sign it. (R. Vol. III, pp. 1111-1128 (¶¶ 7.d, 7.e)).

Revocation. (**R. Vol. I, pp. 249-253**). When Nettles previously prepared the 2014 Will and 2016 Codicil for Warren's *probate estate*, Nettles allegedly did not even know Warren had a Trust. This means Nettles never once had a discussion with Warren at any point in time about whether Warren wanted his Trust assets to pass through probate, as Respondents now allege should occur but fail to demonstrate. Nettles admitted:

A: When I wrote the will, **I represented to Warren** that this disposes of all of your properties.

Q: And it did, but for those properties in the trust.

A: Well, **I didn't tell him but for the properties in your trust because I didn't know about a trust.**

(**R. Vol. III, p. 1094**) (emphasis added). Finally, Nettles confirmed Warren **never** expressed the intent to revoke the Trust or to otherwise dispose of its assets through his *probate estate*, admitting:

A: Well, actually I didn't know when I did the revocation how much, if any, property he had actually put into the trust, I didn't know that. I think he -- I don't know. I just don't recall that.

...

A: But I do know that his intent was to leave things according to his will. And if that earlier document still had any legal effect, **then it was my judgment it would be best to specifically revoke that.**

Q: His [Warren's] intent is based on your testimony; correct?

A: No, it's based on his expressions to me.

Q: **He specifically said to you: I want to take all of my properties that are in the trust and put them all in my estate?**

A: **No, he did not mention the trust to me.**

(**R. Vol. III, pp. 1095-1096** (emphasis added), **1090-1092, 1097**; **Vol. IV, pp. 1386-1387**).

Once Ross and Nettles were satisfied with the Revocation, Ross arranged to have the document given to Warren on September 15, 2016. Ross flew to Charleston from Utah, speaking

to Nettles eight times between September 12 and 15, 2016. (**R. Vol. III, p. 1110 (Vol. II, p. 541), 1129 (Vol. II, pp. 568-570); Vol. V, pp. 2163, 2165-2168**). Warren was never consulted.

On September 15, 2016, Ross was at Warren’s condo with him and called Nettles to come with the Revocation. (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1078-1079, 1098-1099**). Warren’s fulltime caregiver, Tiawanna Williams, who was usually with Warren had been sent on an “outing” before Nettles arrived.<sup>11</sup> (**R. Vol. III, p. 1148 (Vol. II., pp. 707-722)**). *This left Ross alone with Warren* in the condo leading up to the moment when he would be asked to revoke the Trust—something that before this day Warren did not know was afoot. Greg Bosch (Warren’s massage therapist), then arrived. (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1070-1071, 1131-1132, 1143-1145**). Unprompted, Warren asked Bosch to be a “witness” because he was “changing his **will**,” and that he “was rewriting his **will**,” and that the document being brought over soon for him to sign was “his **will**.” (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1132-1134**) (emphasis added). Warren mistakenly commented this was needed because of his divorce and to prevent his ex-wife from sharing in his estate.<sup>12</sup> (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1135, 1150 (Vol. I, pp. 120-124, ¶10(b))**). Of course, the document given to Warren was not his “will,” nor was it necessary to prevent his ex-wife from sharing in his estate when he died. Ross, while he was alone with Warren, is the only person who could have framed Warren’s misunderstanding of the “will” he was about to be shown, because others had not yet arrived. (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1070-1071**).

Nettles and his associate, Alecia Bores, arrived with the Revocation (not a new will, as Warren believed) while Bosch was with Warren. (**R. Vol. I, p. 117, ¶¶ 5-6; Vol. IV, pp. 1562-1564**). Nettles showed the document to Warren for the very first time, while Ross, Bores, and

---

<sup>11</sup> Bosch testified this was the **first and only time** he had ever seen Warren when Ms. Williams, was not also present. (**R. Vol. III, p. 1145**).

<sup>12</sup> Warren harbored *great* disdain for his ex-wife. (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1135, 1149 (Vol. I, pp. 125-128, ¶ 8)**).

Bosch observed. (**R. Vol. I, pp. 113, ¶ 12, 117-119, ¶¶ 5-9, 121-122, ¶¶ 6-8, 126 ¶¶ 6, 8, 11**). According to Bosch, Nettles “didn’t read the whole document to [Warren].” Instead, Nettles directed Warren to certain sections. (**R. Vol. IV, pp. 1620-1621**). Nettles confirmed this. (**R. Vol. III, p. 1100**). Describing the whole process, Ross said, “I think Truett [Nettles] was pretty hot to trot to get it signed and done.” (**R. Vol. III, p. 1078**). Nettles told Warren he “should” sign the Trust Revocation, despite admitting Warren never mentioned to him moving the assets of the Trust into his probate estate. Nettles also testified Warren did not “understand the legal import” of the Trust. (**R. Vol. III, pp. 1095-1096**).

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