RECEIVED

Jan 30 2023

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bentley Price
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2022-000592

Pamela Holliday Wallin, Mark Bennett Holliday, Kingsley K. Holliday, Sara Jane Holliday, and John C. Holliday Appellants,

vs.

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

208, 218; Smoak, 286 S.C. 419 (finding that the case should not have gone to the jury because there was insufficient evidence of undue influence despite the fact that the testator was bedridden and the beneficiary’s attorney drafted the will); Calhoun, 277 S.C. 527 (finding that the case should not have gone to the jury because there was insufficient evidence of undue influence despite evidence that testator was confined to a nursing home, in feeble physical condition, and the beneficiary drove testator to the attorney’s office).

advice of a friend, a wife, etc.” Smith, 39 S.E.2d at 129 (citation omitted). Appellants failed to show that Ross’s influence was unfairly and unlawfully exerted, so as to dominate Warren’s will at the time Warren signed the Revocation, and therefore it is not material that Ross was interested in the Revocation, or had better opportunities for solicitation or persuasion than had the Appellants. Id. at 132. The evidence Appellants put forth, and the evidence to which they now refer, is confined to mere innuendo and suspicion. Accordingly, the circuit court properly found that summary judgment should enter in Respondents’ favor on the issue of undue capacity.

III. The Circuit Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment to Respondents on the Claims for Constructive Trust, Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Demand for Accounting and Receivership, and Declaratory Judgment.

Appellants argue that the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents on the claims for constructive trust, breach of fiduciary duty, demand for accounting and receivership, and declaratory judgment. Appellants contend the court erred because the ruling is premised on the finding that Warren effectively revoked the Trust and, alternatively, that the arguments regarding lack of capacity and undue influence were time barred. Appellants additionally assert that the court improperly penalized them for failing to present sufficient evidence in support of these claims when “[a]ny perceived shortfall” in the evidence was the result of the court’s limiting the scope of discovery to issues of testamentary capacity and undue influence. (Initial Br., 9/7/22, pp. 47-48).

A. Constructive Trust.

The circuit court found that summary judgment on the claim for constructive trust was appropriate because Appellants “failed to show that Respondents did anything inequitable to obtain legal title to the property.” (R. Vol. I, p. 25). The circuit court further found that because Appellants are time barred from contesting the validity of the Revocation, they lack standing as

beneficiaries to assert legal title to assets held in the Trust. Id.

Under South Carolina law, a constructive trust arises “whenever the circumstances under which property was acquired make it inequitable that it should be retained by the one holding the legal title. Lollis v. Lollis, 291 S.C. 525, 529, 354 S.E.2d 559, 561 (S.C. 1987) (citations omitted). “A constructive trust results from fraud, bad faith, abuse of confidence, or violation of a fiduciary duty which gives rise to an obligation in equity to make restitution.” Id. (citation omitted). See SSI Medical Services, Inc. v. Cox, 301 S.C. 493, 392 S.E.2d 789, 793–94 (S.C. 1990) (“A constructive trust arises whenever a party has obtained money which does not equitably belong to him and which he cannot in good conscience retain or withhold from another who is beneficially entitled to it as where money has been paid by accident, mistake of fact, or fraud, or has been acquired through a breach of trust or the violation of a fiduciary duty”) (citation omitted). “In order to establish a constructive trust, the evidence must be clear and convincing.” Id. at 794 (citation omitted).

As Respondents argued below and the circuit court found, there is no evidence that Ross or Lea engaged in any conduct that would render their inheritance inequitable. The mere fact that Ross and Lea received a greater bequeathal of assets than did Mark and Pamela does not constitute “clear, definite, and unequivocal” evidence sufficient to support imposing a constructive trust. Lollis, 354 S.E.2d at 561. The record is devoid of evidence of fraud, wrongdoing, or abuse. Furthermore, the law favors the disposition of property as intended by the testator so long as the testator meets the three elements for testamentary capacity. Appellants do not contest the 2014 Will or 2016 Codicil. And, for the reasons discussed *supra*, there can be no dispute that Warren possessed the requisite capacity to execute the Revocation. Accordingly, summary judgment in favor of Respondents was proper.

B. Claims for Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Accounting, Appointment of a Receiver, and for Declaratory Judgment.

The circuit court found that the claims for breach of fiduciary duty, an accounting, appointment of a receiver, and for declaratory judgment fail because Warren executed a valid revocation of the Trust, either by way of the Marital Settlement Agreement and the 2014 Will and 2016 Codicil, or by way of the Revocation. (R. Vol. I, p. 25). Additionally, the circuit court properly found that Appellants are barred from contesting the validity of the Revocation, which finding necessitates a determination that the Trust was validly revoked and therefore no longer exists. Appellants retain no beneficiary status with respect to a dissolved Trust and therefore lack standing to assert these challenges. Furthermore, Appellants have no claim to damages where the Trust ceases to exist.

The breach of fiduciary duty claim is asserted under § 62-7-802, which states that a trustee shall administer the trust solely in the interests of the beneficiaries. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-802(a). The court found that the breach of duty claim is barred under § 62-7-603, which provides that “[w]hile a trust is revocable, rights of the beneficiaries are subject to the control of, and the duties of the trustee are owed exclusively to, the settlor.” See (R. Vol. I, pp. 14-15). The court explained that even if the Trust was in existence prior to Warren’s death, Appellants have no claim against Ross as trustee during Warren’s life. (R. Vol. I, p. 14). It also bears mentioning that the Complaint in this matter contains no particularized allegations of Ross or Lea mismanaging Trust assets. The Complaint alleges only that Patricia brought a Rule to Show Cause motion against Warren in 2015, “out of her concern for dissipating of assets of [] Zeezrom, LLC,” (R. Vol. I, p. 43, ¶ 42); and that Pamela “began to question the finances and operations of Mr. Holliday’s real estate businesses to provide for her mother Patricia Holliday,” (R. Vol. I, p. 44, ¶ 44). In their Initial Brief, Appellants indirectly suggest that Ross mismanaged Trust assets but they do not raise a direct, evidence-based

allegation. See (Initial Br., 9/7/22, p. 3 & n.2) (“Ultimately, Martha stopped keeping the books in June of 2015, by which time Ross had personally withdrawn more than \$4,000,000.00 from the businesses; “Martha said Ross’ withdrawals made managing the finances difficult”). In any event, the remedies available for a statutory breach of duty are subject to the exceptions listed in § 62-7-802(b) and the limitations period set forth in § 62-7-1005. Reporter’s Comment, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-802. To the extent Appellants would rely on allegations of asset mismanagement prior to Warren’s death, they clearly were aware of the transactions of which they now complain and thus are time-barred under § 62-7-1005(a) from now taking issue with them. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-1005(a) (imposing a one-year statute of limitation for any proceeding by beneficiary against trustee premised on a transaction for which a report was sent to beneficiary and which report adequately disclosed the existence of a potential claim). In addition to the findings that Warren effectively revoked the Trust and that Appellants are barred from contesting the validity of the Revocation, Appellants provide no evidentiary support for the claim and are moreover time-barred under § 62-7-802 from asserting it.

Under South Carolina law, an accounting in equity is available where the proponent demonstrates fraud involving a fiduciary and trust relationship or a breach of a fiduciary relationship. See Jacobson v. Yaschik, 249 S.C. 577, 587, 155 S.E.2d 601, 606 (S.C. 1967). See also Rogers v. Salisbury Brick Corp., 299 S.C. 141, 382 S.E.2d 915, 917 (1989) (“As an equitable remedy, an accounting is designed to prevent unjust enrichment by disclosing and requiring the relinquishment of profits received as the result of a breach of a confidential or fiduciary duty”). As discussed *supra*, the record contains no evidence of either fraud or a breach of fiduciary duty. As such, there is similarly no basis for appointment of a receiver.

Finally, the claim for declaratory judgment essentially sought a declaration that the

Revocation is invalid and the Trust remains valid. This claim fails in light of the various findings that Appellants are barred from challenging the validity of the Revocation; Warren executed the Marital Settlement Agreement, 2014 Will, and 2016 Codicil with a clear and definite purpose to revoke the Trust; and Warren executed a valid revocation of the Trust on September 15, 2016.

Appellants contend that the circuit court prevented them from engaging in the discovery necessary to garner evidence to support these claims, but the record evidence in this case is voluminous. Appellants do not identify what other discovery they would have sought in furtherance of these claims. Furthermore, as the circuit court properly recognized, additional discovery is moot where the Trust was validly revoked.

IV. The Circuit Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment to Respondents on the Claim for Intentional Interference with Inheritance.

As a final point of contention, Appellants argue the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment to Respondents on the claim for Intentional Interference with Inheritance (“IIWI”). (Initial Br., 9/7/22, p. 42). Appellants contend the circuit court mistakenly relied on its finding that the Trust was revoked and also erred in concluding both that South Carolina does not recognize any such cause of action and that it would lack subject matter jurisdiction over the claim. As discussed below, the ruling contains no error.

To begin, the case law is clear that South Carolina has not adopted an IIWI claim as a cause of action. See, e.g., Malloy v. Thompson, 409 S.C. 557, 762 S.E.2d 690, 692 (S.C. 2014) (specifying the opinion “must not be understood as either adopting or rejecting” this style of claim). However, even if this Court were inclined to consider the claim, Appellants cannot carry their burden of proof. In recognizing that this claim does not exist in this state’s jurisprudence, South Carolina courts have identified that such a claim would require proof of (1) the existence of an expectancy, (2) an intentional interference with that expectancy through tortious conduct, (3) a

reasonable certainty that the expectancy would have been realized but for the interference, and (4) damages. See, e.g., Douglass ex rel. Louthian v. Boyce, 344 S.C. 5, 542 S.E.2d 715, 717 & n.4 (S.C. 2001). Warren effected a valid revocation of the Trust and Appellants do not contest the validity of the 2014 Will and 2016 Codicil; therefore, Appellants cannot establish an expectancy. Additionally, there is no evidence of tortious conduct of any kind, let alone conduct that interfered with their inheritance.

Second, this cause of action is designed for plaintiffs who do not have an adequate remedy through probate proceedings. For plaintiffs who have an adequate remedy through probate proceedings, the tort claim is not allowed. See Litherland v. Jurgens, 869 N.W.2d 92, 96 (Neb. 2015) (collecting cases); Jackson v. Kelly, 44 S.W.3d 328, 331–34 (Ark. 2001); DeWitt v. Duce, 408 So.2d 216, 218 (Fla. 1981); In re Estate of Roeseler, 679 N.E.2d 393, 406 (Ill. Ct. App. 1997); Plimpton v. Gerrard, 668 A.2d 882, 886 (Me. 1995); Brandin v. Brandin, 918 S.W.2d 835, 840 (Mo. Ct. App. 1996); Wilson v. Fritschy, 55 P.3d 997, 1001 (N.M. Ct. App. 2002). See also, Wellin v. Wellin, 135 F. Supp. 3d 502, 517-18 (D.S.C. 2015) (finding that the South Carolina Supreme Court would likely restrict the tort to cases where the plaintiff has no adequate remedy at probate, reasoning that “[t]his approach is consistent with the goal of protecting beneficiaries who would otherwise be left without a remedy, which has been a significant justification for the expansion of tort liability to protect inheritance expectancies in many jurisdictions, including South Carolina”).

In Matter of Robert Boydston & Joan Boydston 1990 Living Revocable Tr., No. 1 CA–CV 16–0074, 2017 WL 1325230 (Ariz. Ct. App. Apr. 11, 2017), for instance, the plaintiffs attempted to amend their pleadings to raise a claim for IIWI based on an amendment to a revocable trust that had disinherited them. In denying the proposed amendment on the grounds that it would be futile,

the court noted that the plaintiffs had neither alleged nor established the lack of an adequate remedy via probate proceedings. Id. at *4. The court further observed that the probate code authorizes the court to intervene in the administration of a trust if invoked by an interested person and it also empowers the court to void a trust if its creation was induced by fraud, duress, or undue influence. Consequently, the court ruled that the plaintiffs “could have sued in probate court to void the [trust amendment], and, if successful, could have restored their ‘proper inheritance as illustrated by the estate planning documents prior to [the defendant] . . . interfering with [plaintiffs’] right to the inheritance.’” Id. at *5.

Similarly, in this case, Appellants had an adequate remedy available to them in probate court. However, they failed to file a timely contest in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-604. Had they filed a timely contest, such claim, if successful, would have invalidated the Revocation and reinstated the Trust, thereby providing Appellants with beneficiary status. Notably, Appellants do not address or refute in their Initial Brief that probate court would have provided them an adequate remedy.¹⁹ Having failed to timely pursue the adequate remedy available to them, Appellants cannot now circumvent the limitations in § 62-7-604 by asserting an IIWI claim. See Youngblut v. Youngblut, 945 N.W.2d 25, 35, 40 (Iowa 2020); Munn v. Briggs, 110 Cal. Rptr.3d 783, 793 (Cal. Ct. App. 2010).

Finally, even if the IIWI claim is viable under state law and even if the probate proceedings did not provide Appellants with an adequate remedy, the circuit court lacked jurisdiction to consider the claim. Appellants initiated this action in probate court and, on April 25, 2019,

¹⁹ The Wellin v. Wellin matter provides an example of beneficiaries raising a challenge to various testamentary instruments for which there was *not* an adequate remedy in probate court. In that case, the court noted that at a minimum “the damages arising from wrongful inter vivos transfers could not be recovered through probate remedies.” Wellin, 135 F. Supp. 3d at 518. There are no such damages at issue here.

Respondents removed the action to circuit court pursuant to § 62-1-302. The Probate Code continues to govern an action that originated in probate court even after removal to circuit court. See, e.g., Waddell v. Kahdy, 309 S.C. 1, 4, 419 S.E.2d 783, 785 (1992). In such cases, the circuit court derives its jurisdiction from the probate court, whose jurisdiction is limited to that which is vested in it by the South Carolina General Assembly. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-302; Judy v. Judy, 393 S.C. 160, 169, 712 S.E.2d 408, 412 (2011). The probate court does not have subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate tort claims seeking to vindicate personal rights. An action for IIWI, is *in personam* in nature, seeking monetary damages against Respondents, and therefore, does not involve the recovery of estate assets. A ruling in favor of Appellants on the IIWI claim would result in a judgment against Respondents' personal assets alone—not the assets of the Estate of Warren Holliday. Quite simply, to the extent that South Carolina would recognize a claim for IIWI, the Probate Code does not confer subject matter jurisdiction upon the probate court to hear such a claim. Because the circuit court was exercising the original jurisdiction of the probate court pursuant to the removal statute, the court properly found it lacked jurisdiction to decide Appellants' IIWI claim.

CONCLUSION

For all the above reasons, Respondents respectfully request that this Court affirm the circuit court's grant of summary judgment to Respondents, and further affirm the circuit court's denial of Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration.